MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

Tuesday, December 9, 2025, 7:30pm

Council Chambers
Municipal Administration Building
285 Beech Hill Road
Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4

Call to Order — Chair Nicholas Maclnnis

Approval of Agenda

Approval of October 14, 2025 Municipal Council Minutes
Business Arising from the Minutes

o K~ w0 Dbd =

Statutory Public Hearings

a. Continuation of an application to rezone a portion of PID 01231182 at #720
Walsh Post Road, in Fairmont, from Rural General to Tourist Commercial.
(Tabled at November 18 Municipal Council Meeting).

b. Amendments proposed to the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central
Antigonish Plan Area Municipal Planning Strategies, Land Use By-laws,
Generalized Future Land Use Maps, and Zoning Maps to incorporate updated
floodplain mapping and related policies and regulations.

6. Delegations

a. Nicole Fawcett, Port Hawkesbury Reporter
7. Correspondence

a. Letter from Minister Tilley in response to D. Maclsaac Road Ditching Request
8. Committee Reports

a. November 24, 2025 Planning Advisory Committee Report

b. November 25, 2025 Asset Management Committee Report

c. November 25, 2025 Committee of the Whole Report

d. December 9, 2025 Committee of the Whole Report

9. Reports from Individual Council Members on Outside Boards, Conferences, and
Community Activities

10.Motions

a. Second reading of an application to rezone a portion of PID 01231182 at #720
Walsh Post Road, in Fairmont, from Rural General to Tourist Commercial.

11.Miscellaneous Business

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 1 of 47



12. Adjournment

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 2 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Municipal Council Meeting- Minutes

Tuesday, November 18, 2025
7:30pm

Council Chambers

Municipal Administration Building
285 Beech Hill Road

Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4

Councillors Present:

Warden Nicholas Maclnnis Councillor Shawn Brophy
Deputy Warden John Dunbar Councillor Gary Mattie
Councillor Mary MacLellan Councillor Harris McNamara
Councillor Adam Baden-Clay Councillor Sterling Garvie

Councillor Richelle MacLaughlin (by Zoom)

Regrets:
Councillor Wayne Melanson

Staff Present:
Shirlyn Donovan, CAO Beth Schumacher, Municipal Clerk
John Bain, Director, EDPC

Also Present:
Matt Draper, XFM Corey LeBlanc (by Zoom)
Gallery (in person and online)

Call to Order- Warden Maclnnis

Warden Maclnnis called the meeting to order at 7:38pm.

Approval of Agenda

Warden Maclnnis called for approval of the Council meeting agenda.

Min # 2025-136
Moved and Seconded

That the agenda be approved as presented.
Motion Carried

Approval of the October 14, 2025 Municipal Council Minutes

Warden Maclnnis called for any errors or omissions in the minutes of October 14, 2025.
Hearing none, the minutes were considered accepted as presented.

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 3 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Business Arising from the Minutes

There was no business arising from the minutes.

Statutory Public Hearings

Mrs. Donovan reviewed the Public Hearings Protocols for the benefit of the gallery and
Council.

An Application to Rezone a Portion of PID01231182 at 720 Walsh Post Road, in
Fairmont, from Rural General to Tourist Commercial

Mr. Bain provided Council with a presentation of the proposal for the rezoning of a
portion of a parcel on Walsh Post Road, in the community of Fairmont, to facilitate the
development of a facility with five (5) tourist cabins. Mr. Bain noted that five is the
maximum number of cabins permitted in the zone, and any growth to add more cabins
would require the developer to obtain a Development Agreement. Maps and
photographs of the site to provide context was shared.

Mr. Bain reviewed the organizations that were circulated to comment on the proposal.
No concerns were raised with the proposal. Mrs. Bain noted that staff and the Planning
Advisory Committee are both recommending approval of the proposed rezoning. The
obligations to advertise the public hearing and how they were met were shared, and Mr.
Bain noted that no written submissions against or in favour of the application were
received.

A question was asked regarding whether any of the cabins are required to be
accessible. Mr. Bain noted that the cabins would be obligated to meet the Building
Code. A question was asked about the intended purpose of the cottages, and Mr. Bain
noted that they are intended for short-term rentals.

The floor was then opened for any persons who were interested in speaking against the
proposal. Two individuals, Patrick Neary and Angela Neary identified that they were
present to speak against the proposal. No parties identified that they were present to
speak in favour of the proposal.

Mr. Patrick Neary noted that his property was abutting the location where the cabins are
proposed. He has concerns with the proposed use, particularly if for hunting, where he
uses his property for firewood and cuts wood in the wooded area. Members of Council
asked questions about the proximity of the cabins to the property line, the use of Mr.
Neary’s property, whether there was a fence between the properties, and what kind of
tourism the zoning would permit.

Ms. Angela Neary spoke against the proposed rezoning, expressing her concerns with
the use within the wooded area with the wildfire risk. She noted that she lives at an
adjacent property, and expressed concern with noise, traffic, and loss of property value.
She noted that while the Walsh Post Road was reviewed in the staff analysis and
deemed sufficient, many of the residents along this roadway utilize the Fairmont Road,

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 2
Page 4 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

which is full of potholes. Concerns were expressed with the lack of details about the
proposed tourist use, and the potential for other uses in the Tourist-Commercial zone to
be developed on the site. Questions were asked by Council regarding the distance
between the proposed cabins and the adjacent property lines, and the area of the
proposed rezoning.

Mrs. Neary spoke from the gallery and asked about how the property being subdivided
would affect her property value. Warden Maclnnis noted that was not a criterion for
consideration for a rezoning.

Councillor MacLellan asked it was known why the location was selected for tourist
cottages. Councillor MacLaughlin asked Mr. Bain if Council has the ability to request a
business plan with respect to the proposed development. Mrs. Donovan noted that the
policy does not facilitate the authority to request details beyond confirming that the use
fits in the Tourist-Commercial zone. A concern was raised with making a decision
without information, and options were discussed.

Deputy Warden Dunbar proposed that a decision on the matter be tabled, and that
further information be requested from the applicant. Mr. Bain cautioned Council making
a decision based on information beyond the planning criteria or requesting information
beyond what is in the planning by-law. He also noted concern that a decision based on
who the units would be rented to could be the subject of a human rights complaint or
result in an appeal of the decision. Several members of Council noted that it would be
beneficial to have a representative of the applicant in attendance to answer questions
about the proposal.

Min # 2025-137
Moved and Seconded

That Council table a decision on the proposed rezoning of PID01231182 on
Walsh Post Road from Rural General (RG-1) to Tourist commercial (TC-1), and
request that additional details regarding the proposed tourist cabin use and the
accessibility of the cabins.

Motion Carried.

Staff noted that an addendum report will be prepared, and the item will be rescheduled
for the December 9, 2025 Council meeting. A question was asked of Mr. Bain about
how the public hearings are advertised. Mr. Bain shared that the hearings are
advertised on the municipal and EDPC website, as well as in the Reporter, and notices
are mailed to adjacent property owners. A suggestion was made to discuss planning
advertising methods at a future meeting.

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 3
Page 5 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

An Application to Amend the Antigonish County Land Use By-law to Update the
Setback Requirements for Utility-Scale Wind Turbines in Accordance with New
Provincial Requlations.

Mr. Bain spoke to a proposal to amend the Antigonish County Wind Turbine Land Use
By-law, initiated by an application by EverWind to amend the document. Mr. Bain noted
that in March 2025, the Province of Nova Scotia made changes regarding wind turbine
setbacks. Mr. Bain reviewed the existing regulations in the by-law, and the
recommendation that is being made to amend the by-law.

Warden Maclnnis asked for anyone in attendance looking to speak in favour or opposed
to the proposal.

Mark Stewart spoke in favour of the proposed amendment and noted that the changes
are to bring the by-law in alignment with the provincial guidelines. He noted that the
Environmental Assessment process for turbines is rigorous and would address many of
the concerns raised by Council.

Tyler DeGier was in attendance to answer any questions and was in favour of the
proposal as well.

Members of Council noted a concern with proposed amendment to reduce the setback
from a watercourse to only 60 metres. Mr. DeGier provided further details regarding
setbacks from watercourses and answered follow-up questions from Council regarding
how construction areas are reinstated to avoid run-off into watercourses.

Min # 2025-138
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council give Second Reading and approve the proposed
amendments to the County of Antigonish Wind Turbine By-law to establish
setback requirements for utility-scale wind turbines of four (4) times the turbine
height, unless a greater distance is needed to ensure exterior sound levels do
not exceed 40 decibels, to amend the minimum setbacks from watercourses
and public highways to 60 metres, and to clarify that a “highway” is any street
accepted and maintained by the Province or Municipality as a public
thoroughfare.

Motion Carried.

An Application to Enter Into a Development Agreement to permit Grouped Quadplexes
on a Single Lot, to be Reqistered Against Four New Parcels from PID10132611 and
Grouped Dwellings on a Single Lot (to be Consolidated) for PIDs 10137099, 10137115,
and 10137131, Antigonish Landing

Mr. Bain presented on the proposed changes necessitated by a change in the CMHC
funding formula available to the developer. Mr. Bain provided an overview of the
proposal and plans that identified the PIDs, with one plan subdividing a large parcel into

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 4
Page 6 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

four lots, and the other involving parcels being consolidated. Mr. Bain reviewed the
possible motion before Council for consideration.

Questions from Council included a request for clarification that the proposed
amendment is not a change in what is being developed based on how it was rezoned a
year ago in terms of total units, but is only a change in how those units are distributed
over lots.

Min # 2025-139
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council enter into a Development Agreement permitting
Grouped Quadplexes on four (4) Single Lots to be Subdivided Out on PID
10132611 as shown on the subdivision plan in Appendix C of the proposed
Development Agreement, specifically as follows:

a. Proposed subdivided lot shown as “PID 2” where eight (8) dwelling units
constructed as two (2) quadplexes will be permitted on the single lot; and

b. Proposed subdivided lot shown as “PID 3” where twelve (12) dwelling
units constructed as three (3) quadplexes will be permitted on the single
lot; and

c. Proposed subdivided lot shown as “PID 4” where sixteen (16) dwelling
units constructed as four (4) quadplexes will be permitted on the single
lot; and

d. Proposed subdivided lot shown as “PID 5” where sixteen (16) dwelling
units constructed as four (4) quadplexes will be permitted on the single
lot; and

That Municipal Council enter into a Development Agreements for Grouped
Dwellings on a Single Lot (to be Consolidated) for PID #10137099, PID
#10137115 and PID #10137131 Antigonish Landing, Antigonish County.

Motion Carried.
Delegations
There were no scheduled delegations.

Correspondence

Mrs. Donovan spoke to the letter from PVSC and the changes that were a part of the
recently passed Municipal Modernization Act. She spoke to the municipality’s current
practice and noted that staff is looking at other municipalities across the province before
coming forward with any changes to the municipality’s policy.

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 5
Page 7 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Mrs. Donovan spoke to the letter from Sean Fraser regarding the Bail Reform Act.
Members of Council noted that it was good to see that concerns raised by Council were
addressed in the letter.

Mrs. Donovan spoke to a letter received from new Minister of Municipal Affairs
introducing themself.

Mrs. Donovan spoke to a letter from the Pictou Antigonish Regional Library (PARL),
which the municipality was copied on, from the PARL Chair. The letter reiterated the
importance of library funding, and asked that the review committee recommendation be
accepted to commit to a consistent funding formula. Councillor MacLellan spoke to Eric
Stackhouse from the library, and he is very concerned about funding for the library and
the impacts it will have on the staffing and hours at the facility. Mrs. Donovan noted that
library funding is an agenda item at the Joint Council meeting tomorrow evening.

Committee Reports

October 28, 2025 Asset Management Committee Report

Min # 2025-140
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council approve the purchase of two new 250 gallon fibreglass
fuel tanks for the Havre Boucher Sewer Treatment Plant for $9,828.77 plus HST
from MacGillivray Fuels.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-141
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council add the installation of a sidewalk and crosswalk for
Appleseed Drive to the Capital List.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-142
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council direct staff to request that Nova Scotia Power inspect,
and adjust as required, the current streetlight at the intersection of Lower North
Grant Road and Route 245 in North Grant, for the purpose of better illuminating
the intersection, and if this proves insufficient, that Council approves the
installation of a new streetlight at that location.

Motion Carried

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 6
Page 8 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Min # 2025-143
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council send a letter to the Nova Scotia Department of Public
Works, copied to Minister Thompson and Minister Tilley, requesting to have
West Arm Branch Road in Tracadie gravelled.

Motion Carried

October 28, 2025 Committee of the Whole Report

Min # 2025-144
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council sends a letter to the Department of Natural Resources
regarding the road at the Cape George Lighthouse.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-145
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council pay the balance of $8400 to the Eastern Nova Scotia
Exhibition for their cost to truck in water at the 2025 ENSE.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-146
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council appoint the following SPCA staff members as by-law
enforcement officers for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish for the
purpose of enforcing the By-law Respecting the Responsible Ownership of
Dogs: Sarah Palmer, Brian Culliton, Muhammad Haroon, Lorne Boudreau,
Glenn Mclnnis, Jade Bloom, and Hanna Wenzel.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-147
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council sends a letter to Minister Tilley expressing their support
of consideration of an access to the new collaborative care clinic on Sears Ross
Road from Trunk 4.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-148
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council approve the reallocation of the community partnership
grant for the Heatherton Community Centre for roof repairs to the building.

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 7

Page 9 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Motion Carried

November 18, 2025 Committee of the Whole Report

Min # 2025-149
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council approve the signing of the Order for Winter Parking
Regulations for 2025-2026, setting out the period from December 1, 2025 to
April 15, 2026 as the time in which Winter Parking Regulations will be in effect
on roads/streets under the jurisdiction of the County of Antigonish.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-150
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council directs recreation staff to liaise with PFN office staff for a
recreation outing to support the community of Paqgtnkek.

Motion Carried

Min # 2025-151
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council send a letter to the Premier, copied to NSFM and the
other municipalities in the province, regarding concerns with cell phone
coverage in the community.

Motion Carried

Reports from Individual Council Members on Outside Boards, Conferences, and

Community Activities

Deputy Warden Dunbar provided a summary of the NSFM fall conference in early
November in Halifax. He felt that overall, the conference went well and noted
that the by-law changes that were proposed were not successful. He attended
boundary review meetings in Heatherton and Tracadie, as well as the Heritage
Committee meeting.

Councillor Mattie will be attending the ACTS AGM, as has attended several
boundary review sessions.

Councillor McNamara attended the boundary review meeting in Havre Boucher,
as well as meetings for the RK.

Councillor Garvie attended the Housing Forum. He will be attending the Arena
Board and ERSEM meetings later this month.

Councillor Brophy attended Museum Board meeting, as well as an RK committee
meeting.

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 8

Page 10 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

¢ Warden Maclnnis attended NSFM conference and attended the 4H Rooted Gala.
He also attended boundary review meetings in St. Josephs, Heatherton, and St.

Andrews.

Motions
There were no motions.

Miscellaneous Business

There was no miscellaneous business.
Adjournment

Min # 2025-152
Moved and Seconded

That Municipal Council meeting adjourn at 9:04 pm.
Motion Carried

Warden Nicholas Maclnnis Shirlyn Donovan, CAO

November 18, 2025, Municipal GGeiisildvlindit@senda, December 9, 2025 9
Page 11 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

To: Antigonish County Planning Advisory Committee
Antigonish County Council

From: Planning Staff (EDPC)
Date: October 6, 2025

Reference: Application by Stephan Hilber and Andrea Rueedi to amend the West River
Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law by rezoning a portion of the property located
at PID# 01231182 from Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1).

Recommendation: Description
That Planning Advisory Committee recommend to | Designation: Rural Development
Council that the proposed amendment to rezone a Zone: Rural General (RG-1)
portion of the property located at PID 01231182 on
Walsh Post Road from Rural General (RG-1) to | Site: Walsh Post Road,
Tourist Commercial (TC-1), based on meeting the Fairmont
requirements of the relevant polices found in the | Request: Rezone a portion of lot
West River Antigonish Harbour Secondary Planning from RG-1 to TC-1
Strategy, be gi first di d bli

ra .egy e given first reading and a public | 01231182
hearing be scheduled.

Information:

Staff received a request to rezone a portion of the property located at PID 01231182 on Walsh
Post Road, in Fairmont, from Rural General to Tourist Commercial zone. The owners would like to
construct five tourist cabins on a four-hectare portion of the property. The current property
owners are Stephan Hilber and Andrea Rueedi. Planning Staff visited the site on May 21, 2025.

Analysis:

The property is located on Walsh Post Road in Fairmont. It is a large 56.2 hectares (139 acres)
property and the portion of the property which the owners would like to rezone to TC-1 is
approximately 4 hectares (10 acres). The property is currently being used as a hobby farm and is
in an agricultural area of the Municipality.

The proposed tourist cabins site is set back a minimum of 400 metres from Walsh Post Road and
will be further away from the road than are the current dwelling and agricultural buildings.

Staff reached out to the Municipal Finance Department and there would be no issues with respect
to the proposed development from a financial perspective. The Municipality has no issues with
the proposed development in terms of the financial costs associated with it. The existing services
are adequate, and the property owner is responsible for any costs associated with this

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 1
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 12 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

development. The Municipality has no costs associated with this development.

Uses in the Surrounding Area:

Land uses in proximity to the property at 720 Walsh Post Road are mainly agricultural or
residential. Tourist cottages set well back from the public road are deemed to be compatible given
the large lot sizes and distances from adjacent residential uses. The public road is not a busy road,
and the proposed tourist accommodations would not be easily visible from the road.

Access to Public Road:

The property is accessed by Walsh Post Road and there are currently an existing dwelling and
existing driveway giving access to the lot. Comments from the Area Manager for Nova Scotia
Public Works were positive. The comments stated that the road network leading to the property
is adequate for the development and that no new upgrades would be required because of this
proposed development. The Nova Scotia
Department of Public Works (NSDPW) have
no issues with the access to the proposed
development.

Scale and Compatibility:

The construction of five tourist cabins on a
large rural lot is in keeping with the scale
and compatibility of that area of Fairmont.
In fact, as shown in Figure 1, the proposed
cottage would be in the back field and
barely visible from the public road. The
cottages would be well beyond the existing
agricultural buildings that can be seen in
the photograph.

Rezoning Policy: Figure 1: Site. |

The West River Antigonish Harbour Secondary Planning Strategy has specific policies relating to a
potential rezoning from Rural General to Tourist Commercial zone. Policy L-1.19 and L-1.20 state
the following: It shall be the policy of Council to permit the rezoning of lands from Rural General
(RG-1) zone to Tourist Commercial (TC-1) Zone. and It shall be the policy of Council to permit retail
uses associated with tourism and new tourist cottage developments totaling up to five (5)
accommodation units in areas designated Rural Development, as shown on the Generalized
Future Land Use Map by amendment to the Land Use Bylaw. In evaluating such proposals, Council
shall have regard to the following: a. whether the proposed development is compatible with

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 2
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 13 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

adjacent rural development uses with respect to scale, mass and use; b. whether adequate
landscaping and buffering is in place or proposed in order to minimize any adverse impacts the
development may have on adjacent uses; and, whether the proposed development is consistent
with the criteria to amend the Land Use By-law, found in Policy I-1.10.

In addition, the Planning Strategy has a policy that sets out landscaping requirements where a
tourist use abuts existing residential uses. Policy L-1.21 states the following: “It shall be the policy
of Council to set out in the Land Use By-law requirements for landscaping in the Tourist
Commercial (TC-1) Zone where a tourist use abuts an existing residential use.” Staff have
concluded that this policy can be met by existing conditions on the property given the proposed
location of the cabins will be surrounded by thick wooded areas on three sides and is a significant
distance from any abutting residence.

The above-mentioned policies enable the proposed rezoning for PID 01231182 to occur if all the
other rezoning criteria of Policy I-1.10 are met. Staff have analyzed the proposal against the
criteria, and the result is that the criteria are deemed to have been met.

EASTERN DISTRICT
PLANNING COMMISSION

Proposed Rezoning
WEST RIVER
ANTIGONISH HARBOUR
PLAM AREA

FAIRMONT
Antigonish County, Mova Scotia

o 100

= STEPHAN
‘Walsh Post Rd, Falrmont
Hatched portion of PID 01231182
To be rezoned
from: RG-1 Resigential
o0 TC-1 Tourlst Commarcial

Figure 2: Context

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 3
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 14 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Conclusion:

The rezoning application for the property at PID 01231182 meets the intent of the West River
Antigonish Harbour Secondary Planning Strategy. The proposed rezoning from RG-1 to TC-1 is
consistent with the relevant rezoning policies. The rezoning policies for the Tourist Commercial
zone were intended for situations such as this proposed development.

The key factors in that support this application to rezone are:

Tourist cabins are compatible with the surrounding agricultural and residential uses.
Existing area of land is more than adequate and no municipal costs involved.

Walsh Post Road is sufficient for this proposal, there are no upgrades needed.

No significant environmental impact or concerns identified.

© oo oo

There is natural buffering from adjacent properties from large, wooded areas.

After consideration of all the factors, Staff find that all the policies involved have been met and
recommend approving this rezoning request.

Therefore staff recommend: that Planning Advisory Committee recommend to Council that the
proposed amendment to rezone a portion of the property located at PID 01231182 on Walsh Post
Road from Rural General (RG-1) to Tourist Commercial (TC-1), based on meeting the requirements
of the relevant polices found in the West River Antigonish Harbour Secondary Planning Strategy,
be given first reading and a public hearing be scheduled.

If supported by the Planning Advisory Committee, the motion could be as follows:
The Committee recommends that Municipal Council:

Give first reading and schedule a public hearing to consider approval of the amendment
to the Central Antigonish Land Use By-law to rezone a portion of the property with PID
01231182, on Walsh Post Road from Rural General (RG-1) to Tourist Commercial (TC-1)
as per the Rezoning Map.

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 4

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 15 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix A: Amending Pages

Amending the West River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area Land Use By-law
WHEREAS Section 210 of the Municipal Government Act provides that a Municipality may make

amendments to land use by-laws, the Council of the Municipality of the County of Antigonish
enacts as follows:

The Land Use By-law for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish, for the West River
Antigonish Harbour Plan Area, is hereby amended as follows:

On the Zoning map, rezoning a portion of property PID 01231182 from Rural General (RG-1) to
Tourist Commercial (TC-1), as shown in Appendix A to this By-law.

READ a first time this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

READ a second time and passed this
_ dayof 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

Nicholas Maclnnis, Warden

Shirlyn Donovan, CAO

Notice of Approval Published (date) and (date)

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 5
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 16 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix “A”

EASTERN DISTRICT
PLANMNING COMMISSION

Proposed Rezoning i

WEST RIVER
ANTIGONISH HARBOUR
PLAM AREA
FAIRMONT
Antigonish County, Mova Scotia

o 100 200 300
HHEHH —_—

Metres
f/]
Property of
STEPHAN

Walsh Post Rd, Falrmont
Hatched portlon of PID 01231132
To be rezoned

from: RG-1 Resigental

toc TC-1 Touwrlst Commearcial

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 6
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 17 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix B: Summary of Evaluation Criteria

Policy L-1.20 It shall be the policy of Council to permit retail uses associated with tourism and new
tourist cottage developments totaling up to five (5) accommodation units in areas
designated Rural Development, as shown on the Generalized Future Land Use Map by
amendment to the Land Use Bylaw. In evaluating such proposals, Council shall have
regard to the following:

a) whetherthe proposed development is compatible with adjacent rural | Complies (See Staff Report)
development uses with respect to scale, mass and use;

b) whether adequate landscaping and buffering is in place or proposed | Complies (See Staff Report)
in order to minimize any adverse impacts the development may have
on adjacent uses;

c) the proposalis consistent with the criteria to amend the Land Use By- | Complies, see below
law, found in Policy I-1.10

Policy I-1.10 In considering amendments to the LUB, in addition to all
other criteria set out in various policies of this planning | yes proposal complies with
strategy, Council shall have regard for the following | the intent of the MPS
matters:

a. The proposal is in conformance with the intents of this Strategy and
with the requirements of all other Municipal by-laws and regulations;

b. The proposal is not premature or inappropriate by reason of:

i) the financial capability of the Municipality to absorb any costs Complies, see comments
relating to the development; from CAO S. Donovan

ii) the adequacy of sewer and water services to support the Complies
proposed development;

iii) the adequacy and proximity of school, recreation and other N.A.
community facilities;

iv) the adequacy of road networks adjacent to, or leading to the Complies
development;

v) the potential for the contamination of watercourses or the Complies
creation of erosion or sedimentation; and

vi) the potential for damage to or destruction of historical buildings | N.A.
and sites.

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 7
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 18 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

c. Whether the proposal conforms to the requirements contained in the
Land Use By-law relating to the following:

i) the type of use; Complies

i) setbacks, height, bulk, and lot coverage of a proposed building | Complies
or expansion to an existing structure;

iii) traffic generation, access to and egress from the site, and | Complies

parking;
iv) open storage; N.A.
v) signs; N.A.

vi) provisions for buffering, landscaping, screening and access | Complies
control to reduce potential incompatibility with adjacent land
uses and traffic;

vii) the location of the development so as not to obstruct any | Complies
natural drainage channels or watercourses;

viii) sufficient building separations to permit access to firefighting | Complies
equipment and to prevent the spread of fire.

d. Suitability and costs of the proposed development in terms of | Complies
steepness of grades, soil and geological conditions, marshes, swamps
or bogs and proximity of highway ramps, railway rights-of-way and
other nuisance factors.

West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Residential Multi-Unit (TC-1) 8
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 19 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

To: Antigonish County Council
From: Planning Staff (EDPC)
Date: December 9, 2025

Reference: Addendum Report

Application by Stephan Hilber and Andrea Rueedi to amend the West River
Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law by rezoning a portion of the property
located at Walsh Post Road, Fairmont PID 01231182 from Rural General (RG-1)
to Tourist Commercial (TC-1).

Recommendation:

Planning Staff is recommending that Antigonish County Council give second reading approval to
the proposed amendments to the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use Bylaw by rezoning a
portion of the property located at PID 01231182 on Walsh Post Road from Rural General (RG-1)
to Tourist Commercial (TC-1), based on meeting the requirements of the relevant polices found
in the West River Antigonish Harbour Secondary Planning Strategy and after consideration of
presentations made by members of the public at a Public Hearing held November 18, 2025.

Information:

Staff received a request to rezone a portion of the property located at PID 01231182 on Walsh
Post Road, in Fairmont, from Rural General to Tourist Commercial zone. A staff report
recommending in favour of the rezoning was presented to Planning Advisory Committee at their
October 6, 2025, meeting. PAC recommended Council give first reading approval to the
amendments and set a public hearing date. The Public Hearing was held November 18, 2025, and
given the issues raised by members of Council and the public the item was tabled and asked staff
to provide further information regarding the application. The following are staff’s responses to
the various issues raised at the hearing:

1) Accessibility — The question was raised if any of the five cabins would be required to meet
the Accessibility provisions of the Nova Scotia Building Code Regulations (NSBCR). The NSBCR
State: “roofed accommodation” means a roofed building, part of a building or group of
buildings that is intended as rental accommodation for the travelling or vacationing public
and further that one sleeping unit conforming to the regulations shall be provided for every
10 sleeping units or part thereof. Therefore, one of the five cabins would need be designed
and built in accordance with the accessibility requirements of the Nova Scotia Building Code
Regulations.

Addendum: West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Tourist Commercial (TC-1) 1

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 20 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

2) Proximity to property line — The question was raised as to how far away the cottages will be
to the back property line. The property line is approximately 165 meters (541.3 feet) from
the proposed location of the cabins. Also, the proposed zone is approximately 160 meters
(525 feet) from the back property line. Therefore, while the cabins can be placed anywhere
within the TC-1 Zoned portion of the property the closest they could be to the back property
line is 160 meters (525 feet).

3) Use of the Cabins — There was some concern regarding the use of the Cabins. On the
application for rezoning the proponents had stipulated that the cabins would be for “friends,
family and tourists”. The applicant in their covering letter also expressed an interest in
“equestrian tourism” and “farm tourism” for families to visit and experience how they run
their hobby farm. They noted their “...offer is also aimed at fishermen who want to go deep

I”

sea fishing and are looking for accommodation or hunters in the fall.” The type of tourist for

which these accommodations are being provided is not a rezoning criterion.

4) Other Uses Permitted — Concerns were raised that the Tourism Commercial zone would allow
for “other uses” to be permitted in the area. The Tourist Commercial Zone is very limited in
what is permitted. The zone permits: Single-detached dwellings, including Bed and Breakfast
establishments, Tourist cabins or cottages to a maximum of five units, and retail uses
associated with tourism.

In comparison the Rural General zone permits, among other things Agricultural uses,
including intensive livestock operations, Autobody shops, Bed and breakfasts, Boarding
homes, Business and professional offices, Community and activity centres, Converted
dwellings, Day care centres, Duplexes, Existing cottages and campgrounds, Fishing and
fishing-related uses, Forestry and forestry-related uses, Funeral homes, Garden suites,
Greenhouses, Institutional uses, Kennels, Open space uses, Medical Clinics, etc.

This rezoning from the Rural General Zone to the Tourist Commercial Zone could be
considered a “down-zoning”.

5) Public Hearting Notice — It was suggested that there was insufficient notice to members of
the Public Regarding the public hearing.

The Municipal Government Act has two requirements for notification of public hearings. The
Act states: 206 (1) Prior to holding a public hearing required under this Part, the clerk shall
provide notice of the public hearing at least fourteen days before the date of the public
hearing by either (a) placing the notice in a newspaper circulating in the municipality,
inserted at least once a week, for two successive weeks; or (b) posting the notice on the
municipality’s website. The Municipality does both. In addition, the notice and copies of the
staff report are posted on the Commission’s website.

Addendum: West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Tourist Commercial (TC-1) 2

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 21 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Also, Section 2.13 of the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-law states: “When an
application has been received to amend the By-law, all affected property owners on abutting
lots to the subject property shall be notified by the Commission of the public hearing.”

Planning staff interpreted “abutting lots” to be immediately adjacent to the property so
properties across the road did not receive notification. See notification map, page 4.
Therefore, seven notifications went out by regular mail prior to the hearing in accordance
with Municipal Policy.

Staff are aware that some if not all these notices were received because we received emailed
queries regarding specifics of the rezoning and due to the large number of residents who
attended the hearing.

Council should be advised that there are only two main criteria for a rezoning of this nature. They
are a) compatibility with adjacent rural development uses with respect to scale, mass and use;
and b) whether adequate landscaping and buffering is in place or proposed to minimize any
adverse impacts the development may have on adjacent uses.

The third criterion is whether the proposal is consistent with the general implementation policy.
Five cottages would not be considered as an intensive use of land and is a down-zoning of the
portion of the property. Nevertheless, staff reviewed and reported positively on each individual
implementation policy in the original staff report.

Conclusion:

Planning Staff is recommending that Antigonish County Council give second reading approval to
the proposed amendments to the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use Bylaw rezoning a
portion of the property located at PID 01231182 on Walsh Post Road from Rural General (RG-1)
to Tourist Commercial (TC-1), based on meeting the requirements of the relevant polices found
in the West River Antigonish Harbour Secondary Planning Strategy and after consideration of
presentations made by members of the public at a Public Hearing held November 18, 2025.

Addendum: West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Tourist Commercial (TC-1) 3

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 22 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

;i /f A Z
/ / "%- EASTERN DISTRICT
/ / ! PLANNING COMMISSION
— ,"f ) '_ Proposed Rezoning /

WEST RIVER ANTIGONISH HARBOUR
— PLAN AREA

Fairmont
Amjgonish COlII'IW, Nova Scotia

1] 100 200 300 400 500

7=

01231166

i
| EASTERN DISTRICT PLANNING COMMISSION
| | This map is 3 graphical representation of property
i | boundaries which 3pproimate the size.configuraton

Y

Addendum: West River Antigonish Harbour Rezoning: Rural General (RG-1) to Tourist Commercial (TC-1)
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 23 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

To: Antigonish County Planning Advisory Committee
Antigonish County Council

From: Planning Staff (EDPC)
Date: October 6, 2025

Reference: Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and
Central Antigonish Plan Areas

Recommendations:

Planning Staff is recommending that the Planning Advisory Committee recommends that
Antigonish County Council gives first reading to the proposed amendments to the West River
Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Area Municipal Planning Strategies and Land Use
By-laws, including amendments to the Generalized Future Land Use Maps and Zoning Maps, to
include and update policies regarding a Floodplain designation and zone, to reflect the to reflect
the extent of the 1% AEP 2100 Time Horizon with Climate Change scenario in the 2023 Flood Line
Mapping Study. Planning staff further recommends that Municipal Council schedules a Statutory
Public Hearing for these proposed amendments.

Background:

Flooding has been a persistent and challenging issue within the West River Antigonish Harbour
and Central Antigonish Plan Areas. The region is particularly vulnerable due to several major
rivers that flow through both the Town and County of Antigonish, including the Rights River,
West River, and Brierly Brook. While these rivers converge within the Town, their upstream and
downstream impacts contribute to broader flood risks throughout the County. Combined with
tidal influences from Antigonish Harbour, these waterways can result in joint flooding events.
Additionally, coastal areas along St. George’s Bay are susceptible to extreme water levels, wave
run-up, and stream flooding at culverts and bridges. Historically, flooding has significantly
affected residential areas, critical infrastructure, and transportation routes, creating ongoing
challenges for land use planning and risk mitigation.

To better understand and address these challenges, the County of Antigonish-alongside the
Town of Antigonish- undertook a comprehensive flood mapping initiative. The Eastern District
Planning Commission (EDPC) retained CBCL Limited to carry out the South/West Primary
Watershed Flood Mapping Study, supported by the provincial Department of Municipal Affairs
and Housing (DMAH) under its Municipal Flood Line Mapping (MFLM) initiative. The primary
goal of the study was to produce accurate flood extent and hazard maps for major rivers and
coastal areas, accounting for both current conditions and future climate projections. Although

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 1

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 24 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

the study area includes portions of both the Town and County, this report pertains specifically to
the Central Antigonish and West River Antigonish Harbour Plan Areas within the County.

The study used advanced hydrodynamic modeling and climate projections for the years 2050
and 2100, resulting in flood maps covering approximately 100 km of river length and 120 km of
coastline. These maps reflect six flood scenarios under both present and future conditions,
offering critical data on flood extents, depths, velocities, and associated hazards.

Analysis:

Results of the Watershed Flood Mapping Study

The South/West Primary Watershed Flood Mapping Study addresses flood risks associated with
the South River, West River, Rights River, Brierly Brook, and the coastal areas surrounding
Antigonish Harbour and St. George’s Bay. These areas are prone to frequent and severe flooding

due to complex hydrologic and coastal dynamics,

South/West Primary Watershed - Flood Mapping Study Area
including flat topography, tidal influences, storm

surges, and river interactions. While the Rights
River, West River, and Brierly Brook converge
within the Town of Antigonish, their upstream
and downstream impacts extend into the County,
particularly affecting Lower South River and
surrounding rural communities.

Flooding has been a persistent issue throughout
the watershed. Although ice jamming along the
Rights River and Brierly Brook has historically
impacted the Town, similar flood risks extend to

"t i adjacent areas within the County, particularly
] south/West Primary Watershed —— Watercourses . . .
Subwatarsheds I Waer Bodes i during winter rainfall events and coastal storm
Rights River Areas Included in New Flood Mapping
iy !BH! surges. Previous studies in 1980, 2010, and 2019

Figure 2.1:  South/West Flood Mapping Study Area.

primarily focused on flood risks within the Town's
urbanized areas. As part of the current study, a public questionnaire gathered local insights across
the watershed. Respondents identified large rainstorms as the most common cause of flooding,
with the Rights River reported as the most frequently affected.

The study produced flood maps for multiple scenarios, including the 5% Annual Exceedance
Probability (AEP) (1-in-20-year event) and 1% AEP (1-in-100-year event) under both current and
future climate projections for 2050 and 2100. Copies of these maps can be found in the attached
report (Appendix E). Riverine scenarios accounted for rainfall-driven events, frozen ground
conditions, and ice jamming, while coastal and estuarine scenarios incorporated tidal elevations,

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 2

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 25 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

storm surge, and projected sea level rise. The estuarine analysis was particularly relevant near
river mouths and low-lying coastal zones.

Field data collection occurred from January to

What is bathymetry?

March 2022 and extended into summer to
Bathymetry is the study of the "beds" or

"floors" of water bodies, including the
ocean, rivers, streams, and lakes.

capture a range of conditions. Hydrometric
monitoring and bathymetric surveying using

GNSS and sonar equipment provided detailed
NOAA, National Ocean Service

] ) ) https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/bathymetry.html
profiles. Notable flood events, including post- [N SE Y1

measurements of water levels and riverbed

tropical storm Fiona, were used to calibrate the
models and validate scenario accuracy.

The coastal water level assessment applied the RCP8.5 climate scenario, highlighting the
significant impact of storm surge and sea level rise. The 2100 projections indicate an increased
frequency and severity of flooding, especially in Antigonish Harbour and Lower South River.
Precipitation analysis used historical data to create Intensity-Duration-Frequency (IDF) curves,
incorporating climate change projections suggesting up to a 40% increase in rainfall intensity by
2100.

Hydrological modeling used PCSWMM software to simulate runoff and peak flows, while the HEC-
RAS model assessed channel hydraulics and ice jamming potential. The study identified several
vulnerable structures within the County that may be at risk of overtopping during extreme flood
events. Ice jamming along the Rights River and Brierly Brook continues to pose a significant
hazard, capable of drastically increasing water levels beyond normal flood conditions.

Why Recognize Floodplains?

e Life safety

e Protection of dwellings and other buildings, including important infrastructure

e Reducing liability for granting permission for construction of buildings in areas known to
be a risk

e Protecting environmentally sensitive areas, either being in floodplains (e.g. wetlands), or
along the watershed where they could be put at risk of flooding if the existing floodplains
are filled or altered.

Proposed Changes to the Planning Documents

In Antigonish County, the flood study area falls within the boundaries of the West River Antigonish
Harbour and Central Antigonish plan areas. Both plan areas will require amendments to include
additional policies and amend their mapping to reflect the results of the study.

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 3

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 26 of 47


https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/bathymetry.html

MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

West River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area

The West River Antigonish Harbour MPS does already contain policies with respect to establishing
a floodplain designation and zone, with mapping that depicts the areas identified in previous
studies subject to the designation/zone. The document also contains policies regarding coastal
development, providing minimum coastal elevation and setback requirements for all new
dwellings and accessory buildings in the Rural General (RG-1), Rural Residential (RR-1), and Tourist
Commercial (TC-1) zones.

Staff is recommending that the GFLUM in the MPS be amended to expand the area to which the
Floodplain designation applies, as shown on the maps in Appendices “A and B”, to reflect the
extent of the 1% AEP 2100 Time Horizon with Climate Change scenario in the 2023 Flood Line
Mapping Study. A similar amendment is proposed to the zoning maps in the Land Use By-law for
this plan area, to expand the Floodplain Zone to the extent of the recommendations in the study.

Central Antigonish Plan Area

Currently, the Municipal Planning Strategy (MPS) does not contain any flood-specific policies,
although it does address minimum coastal elevation and minimum setback requirements for all
new dwellings and accessory buildings in the Rural Development and Tourist Commercial zones.
Based on the results of the study and discussions with CBCL, staff is recommending an
amendment to the Central Plan Area MPS to include the following new policies:

1. Policy L-5.2 It shall be the policy of Council to designate lands that are prone to flooding
as “Floodplain” as shown on the Generalized Future Land Use Map.

2. Policy L-5.3 It shall be the policy of Council to establish a Floodplain (F-1) zone in the
Land Use By-law that shall apply to all lands shown as F-1 on the Zoning Map. The
following uses shall be permitted in the Floodplain (F-1) zone: water and sewer utilities
except for treatment facilities, public works associated with flood control; temporary
structures associated with recreational and agricultural uses; recreational, agricultural
and conservation related uses that do not require a permanent structure; and existing
single detached dwellings that are engineered to be more flood resistant according to
the flood-proofing measures as described in the Land Use By-law.

3. Policy L-5.4 It shall be the policy of Council to amend the floodplain mapping as shown in
Schedule “A” of the Land Use By-law should the need arise in the future, or upon the
completion of a more comprehensive floodplain study.

4. Policy L-5.5 It is the intention of Council to prohibit the placement of fill or the altering of
the grade in the Floodplain (F-1) zone except where the objective is to provide a
dwelling with appropriate flood-proofing provisions. Policy L-5.5 Within the Floodplain
(F-1) zone

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 4

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 27 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

it is the intention of Council to set out flood-proofing requirements in the Land Use By-
law for permanent structures.

Accompanying these text updates will be an update to the Generalized Future Land Use Map
(GFLUM), to add a Floodplain designation reflecting the extent of the 1% AEP 2100 Time Horizon
with Climate Change scenario in the 2023 Flood Line Mapping Study, as shown in the amending
document (Appendix C).

The Central Plan Area Land Use By-law currently has language that speaks to lot sizes and
separation distances from watercourses (6.A.36), minimum yard setback where a water feature
constitutes a natural hazard (6.A.37), as well as a minimum elevation and setback from coastal
features or bodies of water (6.A.36). An amendment to this document is proposed to add a
Floodplain Zone. The proposed amending document, found in Appendix “D”, outlines the list of
uses permitted in this zone and depicts the area to which this zoning would be applied.

Conclusion:

The Watershed Flood Line Mapping Study identified areas along the watercourses in the
watersheds analysed as being at risk of flooding in specific storm scenarios (1:20 year and 1:100
year storms). Staff is recommending updates to the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central
Antigonish Plan Area Municipal Planning Strategies and their Generalized Future Land Use Maps,
as well as the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Area Land Use By-laws
and Zoning Maps, to align with the findings and recommendations outlined in the Study.

Appendices:

e Appendix A: Proposed Amendment to the West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal
Planning Strategy

e Appendix B: Proposed Amendment to the West River Antigonish Harbour Land Use By-
law

e Appendix C: Proposed Amendment to the Central Antigonish Municipal Planning Strategy

e Appendix D: Proposed Amendment to the Central Antigonish Land Use By-law

e Appendix E: South/West Primary Watershed Flood Line Mapping Study

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 5

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 28 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Amending the West River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area

Municipal Planning Strategy

Whereas Section 205 of the Municipal Government Act provides that a Municipality may make
amendments to municipal planning strategies, the Council of the Municipality of the County of
Antigonish enacts as follows:

A Municipal Planning Strategy for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish, for the West
River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area, is hereby amended as follows:

1) Adding the following provision under Section 22.5:

1. “No development permit shall be issued for the development of a structure in the
Floodplain (F-1) zone, as indicated on the Zoning Map, unless it is flood-proofed to an
elevation of 0.1 above the elevation shown on the 2023 Flood Line Mapping Study
within the 1% AEP 2100 Time Horizon with Climate Change scenario.”

2) On the Generalized Future Land Use Map, re-designating lands from various designations to
the Floodplain Designation to reflect the extent of the 1% AEP 2100 Time Horizon with
Climate Change scenario in the 2023 Flood Line Mapping Study, as shown in Appendices A
and B to this By-law.

READ a first time this

day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

READ a second time and passed this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

Nicholas Maclnnis, Warden

Shirlyn Donovan, CAO

Notice of Approval Published (date) and (date)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas

Staff Report Appendix A 6

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 29 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix “A”

ANTIZONISH HARBOUR
PLAN AREA

SouthMest Primaty Watershed
Flood Line Mapging Souty

F1 FLOODPLAIN ZONE COMPARISON

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 7

Staff Report Appendix A
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 30 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix “B”

WEST RIVER
ANTIGONISH HARBOUR
PLAN AREA
=

Primary
Flood Line Mapging Study

Current F-1 Floodplain
Tone

Current WS-1 Waker

Supply Zone

1% AEP Flood Elevation
= (CBOL 2023)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 8

Staff Report Appendix A
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 31 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Amending the West River Antigonish Harbour Plan Area

Land Use By-law

WHEREAS Section 210 of the Municipal Government Act provides that a Municipality may
make amendments to land use by-laws, the Council of the Municipality of the County of
Antigonish enacts as follows:

The Land Use By-law for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish, for the West River
Antigonish Harbour Plan Area, is hereby amended as follows:

1) On the Zoning map, rezoning several properties from various zones to the F-1 Zone to
reflect the 1% AEP 2100 Time Horizon with Climate Change scenario in the 2023 Flood
Line Mapping Study, as shown in Appendices A and B to this By-law.

READ a first time this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

READ a second time and passed this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

Nicholas Maclnnis, Warden

Shirlyn Donovan, CAO

Notice of Approval Published (date) and (date)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas

Staff Report Appendix B 9
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 32 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix A

Primary
Flood Line Mapping Study

F1 FLOODPLAIN ZOME COMPARISON

Current F-1 Floodpain
Zone

Current WS-1 Wales
Supply Zone
1% AEP Flood Blevation
- {CBOL 2023)
= NSPlacenames

\

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 10

Staff Report Appendix D

Page 33 of 47

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix B

WEST RIVER
ANTIGONISH HARBOUR
PLAN AREA

SouthMest Primary Watershed
Flood Line Mapging Study

F1 FLOODPLAIN ZOME COMPARISON

Current F-1 Floodplain
Zone

mﬁlm

19 AEP Fiood Elevation
= (CBCL 2023)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 11

Staff Report Appendix D

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 34 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Amending the Central Plan Area

Municipal Planning Strategy

Whereas Section 205 of the Municipal Government Act provides that a Municipality may make
amendments to municipal planning strategies, the Council of the Municipality of the County of
Antigonish enacts as follows:

A Municipal Planning Strategy for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish, for the
Central Plan Area, is hereby amended as follows:

1) Adding the following new policies to Section 3.1.4 immediately following Policy 5.1
of the strategy:

Policy L-5.2 It shall be the policy of Council to designate lands that are prone to
flooding as “Floodplain” as shown on the Generalized Future Land Use Map.

Policy L-5.3 It shall be the policy of Council to establish a Floodplain (F-1) zone in
the Land Use By-law that shall apply to all lands shown as F-1 on the Zoning Map.
The following uses shall be permitted in the Floodplain (F-1) zone: water and
sewer utilities except for treatment facilities, public works associated with flood
control; temporary structures associated with recreational and agricultural uses;
recreational, agricultural and conservation related uses that do not require a
permanent structure; and existing single detached dwellings that are engineered
to be more flood resistant according to the flood-proofing measures as described
in the Land Use By-law.

Policy L-5.4 It shall be the policy of Council to amend the floodplain mapping as
shown in Schedule “A” of the Land Use By-law should the need arise in the
future, or upon the completion of a more comprehensive floodplain study.

Policy L-5.5 It is the intention of Council to prohibit the placement of fill or the
altering of the grade in the Floodplain (F-1) zone except where the objective is to
provide a dwelling with appropriate flood-proofing provisions. Policy L-5.5 Within
the Floodplain (F-1) zone it is the intention of Council to set out flood-proofing
requirements in the Land Use By-law for permanent structures.

2) On the Generalized Future Land Use Map, re-designating lands from various
designations to the Floodplain Designation to reflect the extent of the 1% AEP 2100

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas

Staff Report Appendix C 12
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 35 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Time Horizon with Climate Change scenario in the 2023 Flood Line Mapping Study, as

shown in Appendices A and B to this By-law.

READ a first time this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

READ a second time and passed this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

Nicholas Maclnnis, Warden

Shirlyn Donovan, CAO

Notice of Approval Published (date) and (date)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 13

Staff Report Appendix D

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025

Page 36 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix A

CENTRAL ANTIGONISH
PLAM AREA

SouthWest Primary Walsarshed
Fiood Line Mapping Study

PROPOSED
1% AEP EXTENT F-1 FLOOD Z0NE

Lower South River | 51. Andrews

1% AEP Flood Elevation
=1 (cacr 20m)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 14

Staff Report Appendix D
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 37 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix B

CENTRAL ANTIGOMESH
PLAN AREA

SouthWest Primary Watershed
Fiood Line Mapping Study

PROPOSED
1% AEP EXTENT F-1 FLOOD ZONE

Soath of S5t ANDrews

i

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 15

Staff Report Appendix D

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 38 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Amending the Central Plan Area

Land Use By-law

WHEREAS Section 210 of the Municipal Government Act provides that a Municipality may
make amendments to land use by-laws, the Council of the Municipality of the County of
Antigonish enacts as follows:

The Land Use By-law for the Municipality of the County of Antigonish, for the Central Plan
Area, is hereby amended as follows:

1) Adding the following section to the by-law immediately following Part 18:
Part 19: Floodplain (F-1) Zone
F-1 Uses Permitted

19.1 No development permit shall be issued in a Floodplain (F-1) zone except for one or
more of the following uses:

Agricultural uses that do not require a permanent structure.

Conservation related projects that do not require a permanent structure.
Open air structures and uses.

Public works associated with flood control.

Recreational uses that do not require a permanent structure.

Existing single detached dwellings, subject to flood-proofing requirements.

m P Qa0 T o

Temporary structures associated with recreational and agricultural uses placed
on the floodplain during summer months after the danger of spring flooding
has passed.

h. Water and Sewage utilities except for treatment facilities.

2) Renumbering Part 19: Definitions to now read Part 20: Definitions.

3) On the Zoning map, rezoning several properties from various zones to the F-1 Zone to
reflect the 1% AEP 2100 Time Horizon with Climate Change scenario in the 2023 Flood
Line Mapping Study, as shown in Appendices A and B to this By-law.

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas

Staff Report Appendix D 16
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 39 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

READ a first time this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

READ a second time and passed this
day of , 2025
(Min#2025-XXX).

Nicholas Maclnnis, Warden

Shirlyn Donovan, CAO

Notice of Approval Published (date) and (date)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 17

Staff Report Appendix D

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025

Page 40 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix A

CENTRAL ANTIGDHNISH
PLAM AREA

SouthAWest Primary Watershed
Flood Line Mapping Study

PROPOSED
1% AEP EXTENT F-1 FLOOD ZDNE

Lower South River § 51 Andrews

1% AEP Flood Elevation
E (o 20m)

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 18

Staff Report Appendix D
Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 41 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Appendix B

W

O, PR
L

RN
Sk

ooy

?
Er

CENTRAL ANTIGONIESH
PLAN AREA

SouthyWest Primary Watershed
Fiood Line Mapping Study

PROPOSED
1% AEP EXTENT F-1 FLOOD ZOME

Soarth of St Andrews

/rf
- 23 =1*AEPFIMIHUM
\\ {CBCL 2023)

=

Review of Flood Mapping within the West River Antigonish Harbour and Central Antigonish Plan Areas 19

Staff Report Appendix D

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 42 of 47



Public Works
Office of the Minister

PO Box 186, Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada B3J 2N2

NOV 2 6 2025

Nicholas Maclnnis, Warden
Municipality of the County of Antigonish
285 Beech Hill Road

Beech Hill, NS B2G 0B4

Dear Warden Maclnnis:

Thank you for your correspondence dated September 19, 2025, regarding a drainage
concern on Appleseed Drive in Antigonish County.

Department of Public Works (DPW) staff have reviewed the drainage in this area and are
of the opinion that based on the geography of the area, the current water course is the
natural and historical path for drainage in this area. This is also supported by the fact that
the Department does not have a Maintenance Drainage Easement here. Staff have
indicated that site drainage improvements were done in the summer of 2024 to reduce
the amount of site drainage going to this property.

The Ditches and Watercourse Act states that landowners may deepen or widen an
existing ditch or drain in a natural water course so that they may make better use of the
property.

Given the current conditions, and in the absence of a Drainage Easement, it is the
Department'’s position that any improvements to the existing drainage ditch outside the
highway right-of-way are the responsibility of the landowners.

Thank you for taking the time to write concerning this matter. If you wish to discuss this
matter further, you may contact Area Manager Basil Pitts by phone at 1-902-870-4746,
or by email at Basil.Pitts@novascotia.ca.

Yours sincerely,

Fii

_~Fred Tilley
Minister of Public Works

é. Michelle Thompson, MLA Antigonish County
Paul Colton, District Director, Eastern
Basil Pitts, Area Manager, Antigonish/Guysborough County

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 43 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

TO: MUNICIPAL COUNCIL
FROM: COUNCILLOR MARY MACLELLAN, CHAIR
SUBJECT: PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE

REPORT DATE:  November 24t 2025

The Planning Advisory Committee was convened at 6:00 pm on Monday, November 24t
2025, at the Municipal Office. The following committee members were in attendance:

Councillor Mary MacLellan, Chair
Deputy Warden John Dunbar
Councillor Richelle MacLaughlin
Mike MacEachern

Antigonish Housing Accelerator Fund (HAF) Amendments Consultation Summary

lan Watson of Upland presented on the findings..

It was agreed that the 15 reading will be sent to council December 9, the Public
hearing will be held in January.

Be It Resolved That Planning Advisory Committee for the Municipality of the County of
Antigonish recommends that Council give First Reading and Schedule a Public Hearing
for amendments to:

. the County of Antigonish Municipal Planning Strategy;

. West River Antigonish Harbour Municipal Planning Strategy and Land Use By-

law;

. Central Antigonish Municipal Planning Strategy and Land Use By-law;

. Eastern Antigonish Municipal Planning Strategy and Land Use By-law;

. Keppoch Beaver Mountain Municipal Planning Strategy and Land Use By-law;

. County of Antigonish Local Improvements By-law; and

. County of Antigonish Subdivision By-law,
regarding the Antigonish Housing Accelerator Fund, as outlined in pages 15 to 32 of the
report dated October 6, 2025, and as amended to correct the definition of
“accessory dwelling unit” and to remove change number three to the Municipality
of the County of Antigonish Subdivision By-law.

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 44 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

TO: MUNICIPAL COUNCIL

FROM: Deputy Warden John Dunbar

SUBJECT: November 25, 2025 Asset Management Committee Report
DATE: December 9, 2025

The Asset Management Committee was convened on Tuesday, November 25, 2025.
The following Councillors were present:

Deputy Warden Dunbar, Chair
Warden Maclnnis

Councillor MacLellan
Councillor Baden-Clay
Councillor MacLaughlin
Councillor Brophy

Councillor Melanson
Councillor Mattie

Councillor McNamara
Councillor Garvie

The following recommendation was made:

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approve that a request for
quotations (or tender) be issued for a new sewer treatment facility to;

1 Refine the configuration and cost of the proposed facility, optimize layouts, obtain
quotes for ancillary equipment and identify potential locations for the facility.

2 Initiate the approval process, including the execution of an application form to the
Department of Environment and Climate Change.

3 Conduct an Environmental Risk Assessment to establish compliance with effluent
requirements.

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council authorize the Chief Administrative
Officer and Director of Finance to sign Cost Share Agreement No. 2025-003.

ASSET MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT
NOVEMBER 25, 2025 PAGE 1

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 45 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

TO: Municipal Council

FROM: Shirlyn Donovan, CAO

SUBJECT: November 25, 2025 Committee of the Whole Report
DATE: December 9, 2025

The Committee of the Whole was convened on Tuesday, November 25, 2025. The
following Councillors were present:

Warden Maclnnis
Deputy Warden Dunbar
Councillor MacLellan
Councillor Baden-Clay
Councillor MacLaughlin
Councillor Brophy
Councillor Melanson
Councillor Mattie
Councillor McNamara
Councillor Garvie

The following recommendations were made:

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approves an amendment to
Section 1 — Types of Meetings — of the R.K. MacDonald Nursing Home Board By-law, to
amend the section to read as follows:

Meetings of the Board shall be regular, special and committee meetings. “Financial
audit finding will be presented to the Board of Director at the Annual General
Meeting, to be held no later than six months following the conclusion of the fiscal year
end ensuring financial statements are reported and internal controls are satisfactory’.
Regular meetings shall be held monthly, at the discretion of the Chair in consultation
with the Executive Committee.

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approves an amendment to Article
IX — Miscellaneous, Sections 1 and 3 — of the R.K. MacDonald Nursing Home Board By-
law, to amend the section to read as follows:

Section 1 — Amendments

¢) Such amendments shall not be effective until approved by the Town of
Antigonish, Municipality of the County of Antigonish, and the Congregation of the
Sisters of St. Martha, or its successors.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT
NOVEMBER 25, 2025 PAGE 1

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 46 of 47



MUNICIPALITY OF THE COUNTY OF

ANTIGONISH

Section 3 — Coming in Force

a) The By-laws herein shall come into force and effect upon being approved by
the Town of Antigonish, Municipality of the County of Antigonish, and the
Congregation of the Sisters of St. Martha, or its successors.

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council approve the signing of a letter,

written by the PARL member municipalities to the Premier requesting a meeting
regarding library funding.

The Committee recommends that Municipal Council send a letter to NSDPW requesting
additional periodic gravelling, grading, and any additional maintenance of Fairmont
Road for the duration of the construction work on Bay Street.

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE REPORT

NOVEMBER 23, 2020 PAGE 2

Municipal Council Agenda, December 9, 2025
Page 47 of 47



	MC251209 Agenda.pdf
	MC251118 Minutes.pdf
	Staff Report HIlber_Rueedi TC-1.pdf
	Description

	AT_Fairmont Rezoning Addendum Report December 2025.pdf
	AT_Flooding_Staff_Report_October2025.pdf
	12022025_Public Works Office of the Minister.pdf
	PAC251124 Report.pdf
	2025 - November 25 - AMC Report.pdf
	2025 - November 25 - Committee Report.pdf



